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The herbarium of the Forest Research 
Institute & Colleges, Dehra Dun, known in- 
ternationally as the DEHRA DUN HER- 
BARIUM (DD) is composetl of the Forest 
School Herbarium started by J. S. Gamble in 
1890, and the erstwhile Saharanpur Her- 
barium merged with it in 1908. The School 
Herbarium was started with Gamble's own 
duplicates from Madras and Rengal together 
with his extensive collections from places 
around Dehra Dun, as part of teaching aids 
at the Forest School. The herbarium re- 
ceived many aollectrions from the officers 
trained at the School and was further en- 
riched by the private herbaria of some 
enthusiastic forest officers presented to the 
School. It was considered more practical 
that the Saharanpur Herbarium which was 
mainly under the additional charge of the 
Civil Surgeon, be merged with the ever- 
enlarging herbarium of the Forest School at  
Dehra Dun. Since the amalgamation in 
1908 to date, the collection numbers total to 
ca 325,000. The oldest specimens collected 
by Dr. George Govan dating back to about 
1816. Immense amount of labour has been 
put in, mainly by Duthie and Gamble in 
bringing together a good representation of 
the flora of the North-Western region of the 
Indian sub-continent. Many of the speci- 
mens. specially the earlier ones, are of great 

value in botanical work, quite a few of them 
are sometimes being 'Types'. 

Sahnranpur Herbari~rm : Dr. George 
Govan, Civil Surgeon, Saharanpur, was 
appointed the first Superintendent of the 
Botanic Garden in 1816 in addition to his 
own duties. It was established on the site of 
an old, 16 ha. dilapidated local garden which 
was founded by Zabita Khan, an eminent 
administrator and so11 of Najib-ud-Doula 
with the revenue oE seLren villages for its 
maintenance. Govan collected plailts mainly 
in the adjacent Sirmoor State which is now 
part of Himachal Pradesh. 

Dr. J. F. Royle succeeded Govan in 
1823, and like his predecessor, combined the 
duties of Station Sllrgeon with that of Super- 
intendent of the Gardens. Royle himself 
collected in the adjacent Himalaya and 
trained local collectors to be sent into the 
hills for plants and seeds. Royle's collectors 
went as far as Kashmir under the guidance 
of shawl dealers. As there was no proper 
herbarium at Saharanpur, Royle took 'the 
bulk of his collection to London where he 
completed his masterly work entitled "The 
1Zlustrutiu~as of the Botany of the Himulayan 
Mcut~tains''. Royle's herbarium which was 
considered to have been lost, has been 
discovered and safely lodged in the Livapool 
Public Museum, 
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Dr. IIugb Falconer succeeded Royle ill 
1831 and like his predecessor, sent collectors 
to the hills, and with trading caravans to 
Kashmir and Ludakh. Falco~ler llimself col- 
lected as far as Gilgit, Most of his collec- 
tions were seut to the Iildia House ill Londoil 
and some were left behind at Saharanpur. 
His labels carry details about localities written 
in Persian or Devanagri script by his Indian 
collectors, Falconer is famous for his studies 
of the Siwalik rocks and bones. 

Dr. William Jameson succeeded Dr. Fal- 
coner in 1842 and continued till his retire- 
ment in January 1876. Upto ~ameson's time 
the Superintendents of the Saharanpnr 
Garden were all medical men appointed as 
Station Surgeons and for the purpose of 
botany the:r accent was mainly on collecting 
ecQnomic plants. He wo~~lct collect if a de- 
mand reached him, but not cletermine what 
he collected. Jiimeson collected plants from 
time to time mainly from IIuwnlbagh in 
Kumaon and the labels written by his col- 
lectors are mostly in Persian script. His con- 
tribution in the field of economic botany is 
the establishing of the tea industry in Dehra 
Dun and Kangra. Besides tea, he introduced 
potato in Simla hills ii11d flax for fibre. Dur- 
ing Jarneson's 33 years of service in Saharan- 
pur there were several periods of leave. In 
one of them Dr. J. L. Stewart (author of 
Punjab Plants) acted; in another Dr. King. 

After Jameson's retirement in 1876 the 
post of Superintendent went outside the 
Medical Service, Mr. J. F. Duthie, Professor 
in the Agricultural College at Cirencester 
was appointed as his successor. He hecame 
the first Director of the Botanical Depart- 
ment of Northern India ancl unlike his pre- 
decessors, he was able to devote his time 
entirely to botanical work. He retired in 
December 1902. 

Duthie was a man of strong taxonomical 

interests and immediately after taking up the 
new assipment, set to work, putting the 
older collections in order. He toured exten- 
sively drll*ing snrnmers and collected plants 
from the Himalayan regions in as diverse 
places :IS Jumnotri, Gangotri, Kumnon, West 
Nepal, Tibet Frontier, Garhwal, Kheri, 
Gonda, Bahraich, Bijnor and Pilibhit in 
U.P. ; Ajmer Menvara, Mount Abu in 
Rajasthan; Chanda, Nimar, Nagp~lr and 
Jabalpur in Madhya Pradesh ; Ambala, 
Hissar k ~ L l t a n .  He accompanied the 
forestry students on tours in the Siwaliks, 
Debra Dun, Jaunsar-Bawar and Garhwal. 

DI 
garden 
lectors. 

.~thie selected youngman from the 
staff and trained them as plant col- 
Inayat Khan and Harsukh are men- 

tioned by Duthie as becoming very experi- 
el~ced uild efficient. Harsukh and Inayat 
did a very commendable work when they 
iiccompaniecl Gen. Catacre on a military and 
other expeditions to Chitrd, Baluchistan, 
Gilgit, Waziristan etc. They have been com- 
mcmorated in Cardnmine inuyatii, 0, E. 
Schulz ; lmpatiens ina yatii Hook. f.  ; Pri- 
mula inayatii Duthie and Iscltis hnrstrkhii 
0. E .  Sch~ilz. 

Specimens from other border regions 
and military expeditions like the Pnmir 
Rollndary Commissio~~, and the Afghan Deli- 
mitation Commission were collected by 
Capt. Dr. A. FV. Alcock, J. E. T. Aitchison, 
Capt. Harris (all Army surgeons), Francis 
~ounghusband and many more officers of 
tho Army. Duplicates of most of their speci- 
mens (inchlding some Types) are available 
jn the Herbarium. 

Duthie started a fresh series of his num- 
bers in 1883 and continued them to 25929 
in 1901. Prior to this, he collected exten- 
sively but some of his plants were numbered 
and others not. His collectors Inayat ancl 
Harsukh used the same series of numbers as 
Duthie and it appears that the plants were 



238 BULLETIN OF THE BOTANfCAli SURVEY Or INDIA [VOL 19 

numbered later, on their arrival to Saharan- 
pur, since the dates of collection do not 
follow the numbers regularly. Thus Nos. 
8 and 13 bear 10th June 1883 as the date of 
collectio~~ whercris Nos. 1 and 2 were col- 
lected on 14th J~ale. Sometimes letters were 
used in additio~~ to i~umeruls for the saille 
species collected in different places on diffe- 
rent dates, Nos. 1016, 1016a and 101611 for 
example are a11 LrltJiyrtts hcterrs Raker, but 
different dates and places. In some other 
cases Duthie's collections bear the same 
numbers as of some other collectors for the 
same plants from the same localities, but 
different dates and years. For example : 

N o .  8533 Pennisetum alopecuris Steud. Khandwa 
dist. 22.12.88. U.F.D.) 

and 8533 Penniaetum alopecuris Steud. Khandwa 
dist. 28.12.88 (A. E. Lowrie). 

9958 Eriochloa annulata Kunth, Chanda dist. 
20.8.89 (A. E. Lowrie) 

9958 Eriochloa annulcrta Kunth, Chanda dist. 
29.11.89 (J.F.D.) 

4979 (a) Panicurn fluitans Retz. Merwara. 
Sept. 84 (A. E. Lowrie) 

4979 (b) Pnniczlm fluitans Retz. Bhim, Mer- 
wara 12.1.86 (J. F. Duthie) 

6464 Andropogon schoenanthus L. Asirgarh. 
Khandwa. 28.12.88 (A. E. Lowrie) 

8464 Andropogon schoenanthus L. Piplodc, 
Khandwa, 9.12.88 (J.F.D.). 

All the labels pertaining to these are written 
in Drithies' own writing. 

D~~th ie  p~~blished his monumental work, 
"Flora of the Upper Gangetic Plain and of 
the adjacent Siwalik and Sub-Himalayan 
Tracts" and also the Fodder Grasses. 

larly in the case of Bamboos. Duthie 
contributed largely to the School Herbarium 
ad also taught botany to the Rangers. A 
good collection of trees and shrubs was 
brought by Instn~ctors especially U. N. 
Kanjilal and his students during their tours 
to places where they went. Several private 
herbaria made by Forest Officers were pre- 
sented to the School, viz. by Smythies, 
Gustav Mann (Assam) and J. C. M'cDonell 
(Kashmir). By exchange a number of Aus- 
tralian plants were received from Baron Von 
Mueller. 

Since 1890 from the time of Gamble, till 
today, the herbarium has been headed by a 
succession of eminent botanists who have 
played a notable part in the development of 
Indian Forest Botany and enriched the her- 
barium with their collections. Mr. H. H. 
Haines was appointed to the post of Imperial 
Forest Botanist in 1905 when the School was 
raised to the status of an Institute. Haines is 
known for his "Botany d Bihar and Orissa" 
R. S. Hole srlcceeded Haines in 1907 and in 
1908 the Saharanpur Herbarium was amal- 
gamated with the Herbarium of the Forest 
Research Institute. Hole worked on grasses, 
both from ecological side as indicators for 
soil and the economic side as sources of 
fodder and paper-pulp material. R. N. Parker 
took over from Hole in 1922 and continued 
till 1932. Parker immediately set about the 
proper arranging, naming and mounting of 
the material received from Saharanpur. He 
himself collected plants in Kumaon, Burma, 
Kdu and Bashahr, Etawah, North Bengal 
and brought extensive collectior~s containing 
several new genera and species which were 

During Dothie's time Gamble was vigo- later described by him. 1; 1929 a botanical 
rously building up the Forest School herbs- party headed by B. L. Gupta collected in 
rium at Dehra Dun. He was also collecting West Nepal, and published an interesting 
exotic garden plants which were often list of plants collected during the expedition. 
neglected by other collectors. Many of these ~nforhlnntely, Gupta was taken seriously ill 
have been of considerable interest as showing and had to be brought back. "Forest Flora 04 
the date of introduction and source, particu- the Siwalik 8nd Jaunsar Forest Divisions, 
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U.P. 1928 au for which Gupta is re- 
membered, is the revised at~d enlarged ver- 
sion of the earlier Forest Flora of the School 
Circle originally published by Rai Rahaclur 
Upendranath Kai~ilal in 1901 ;uld 1909. In 
1924 Parker took the opportul~ity of revising 
the first editioll of his "Forest Flora of the 
Punjab with Hazara Delhi" and also 
published illustrated booklet 
"Forty Trees Common in Ildia" C .  E. Par- 
kinsol1 formerly Forest Botanist, Burma, suc- 
ceeded Parker in 1932. He brought with 
him a large collection of specimens from 
Burma. He later became known for his 
"Forest Flora of the Andaman Islands" N. 
L. Bor succeeded Parkinson in 1937. Bor 
conducted surveys of the timber resources 
of the evergreen forests of Bombay and 
Madras and enriched the herbarium with his 
extensive collections from there as well as 
from Lahul, Assam, Sikkim, hlunil~ur and 
Tibet. He Vol. V of the Flora of 
Assam o11 Cramineae i111d "Coinmoll Gie;tsses 
of the United Provi1lc.e~" N. L. Bor's emi- 
nence tin Taxonomy, especially the grasses, 
has been recognised by his appointment after 
retirement from India, as Assistant Director 
at the Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew where 
he published his lifetime's work "Grasses of 
Burma, Ceylon, India and Pakistan", besides 
his "Manual of Indian Forest Botanyw Bar 
had also trained Kirat ham as his collector 
and most of their sheets bear the name, 1.3or 
and Kirat Ram. 

Bor left the Institute in 1942 during the 
days of the Second World War on various poli- 
tical assignmnellts iu thc eastern hills. M, B. 
Rahclit \)ecume illclhitrge of' the Systematic 
Bohtuy Sectioll in 1942 anrl later took over as 
Forest Rotu~~ist i l l  1948 itfler 1n(lia7s Inde- 
peldeuce. Itis prime i~lterest was in syste- 
tnatic botii\ty, ~lome~lcliitl~e alld taxonomy 
of grasses. Upto the time of his retirement 
in lgsZ Raizada had described several new 

genera a large 11~11nber of new slwcies, 
particul;uly as additions to tlie flora of 
Upper Gangetic plain. By that time he had 
also established himself ns an authority in 
Indian Gramineae and also ill the nomen- 
clature of India11 plants. His 15 years after 
retirement from the Institute have been uti- 
lised most fruitfully-as a Prillcipil of the 
local Post-Graduiite College for nearly 10 
years. He has now published a Supplement 
to the DuthiBs Flora of Upper Gangetic 
Plain. 

Expeditions have been sent out from this 
Herbilrium to various places which were 
wholly or partly terru incognitu. In 1952 
K. C. Sahni l>articipated in an expedition to 
the Great ,Nicobar Island to explore the forest 
wealth of that region for commercial exploi- 
tation. ;He also accwmpanied as a botanist 
the California Acadeiny of Sciences Expedi- 
tiorl to Panch Chulhi. He has also explored 
iireiis close to the India-Tibet-Nepal border 
and Tehri Garhwal in 1954, 1955 and 1956 
to prepare an account of the medicinal plants. 
He has collected in Aruaachal Pradesh close 
to the Chinese border. Likewise, tlie author, 
who had his initial training at Stewart's 
Herbarium ill Rawalpindi (now i11 Pakistan) 
accompanied an American Medico-Botanical 
Expedition to the Chhota Bailghal region of: 
Kangra in 1955 and a Finnish Botanical Expe- 
clition of the a University of Helsinki to Kulu 
Valley in 1972. During the various holiday 
trips the author collected on the pilgrim 
routes to Amarnath Cave and Licldar Valley 
in Kashmir iu 1954, 1958, 1960, Rudriuirth, 
Hemkund and Valley of Flowers in 1957 
:owl 1959. Also i1 preliminary sllrvey trip 
w;is t~~ldertiiken to 1,;iclnkh irr 1989. 

After Raizada's retirement K. C, Sahni 
took ovcr its Forest Botanist ant1 the herba- 
rillm was vastly enriched with collections 
from various under-explored regions like 
the Union Territory of Goa, Daman and 
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Diu, Arulrachal Pradesh, Ladalih etc. for the 
preparation of Forest Floras of these regions. 

The Dehra Dun herbarium now contains 
approximately 525,000 sheets and is recog- 
nised as one of the finest in Asia, being spe- 
cially rich in grasses. I t  includes about 1200 
Type materials. Besides a good represen- 
tation of the lndian flora, the collection 
contains specimens from all over the world. 
In recent years, luge collections received 
from the Governments of Afghanistan 
and Burma have been ideutified at Dehra 
Dun. There are notable old collectioi~s by 
Dr. Brandis, A. E. Lowrie, A. E. Osmaston, 
U. N. Kanjilal, P. C. Kanjilal, Keshvanand, 
J. E. T. Aitchison, Stocks etc. and the dupli- 
cates of Dr. R. R. Stewart's collection from 
various unexplored regions of what is now 
West Pakistan, are valuable possessions. The 
herbarium has also a valuable collection of 
Cryptoga~ns. Exchange relations are main- 
tained with important herbaria all over the 
world and as a result of this, large number of 
specimens are added to the herbarium every 
year. 

The collections have been of inestimable 
value to various specialists, scholars and 
monographers in the preparation of regional 
floras. Several of the important contributions 

to Indian Forest Botany have emerged from 
this Herbarium. The following important 
works which were wholly or partly prepared 
with the help of Dehra Dun Herbarium 
are : Parkinson's Flora of the Andaman 
Islands; P. C. Kanjilal's Forest Flora of 
Pilibhit, Oudh, Gorakh~ur and Bundelkhand ; 
Flora of Assam by U . N . Kanjilal and Das ; 
1301"s "Common Grasses of the United Pro- 
vinces" ; Mooney's "Sul>plement to the Botany 
of Bihar and Orissa"; "Beautiful Indian 
Climbers a i d  Shrubs" by Bor and Raizada ; 
"Forest Flora of the Punjab" by Parker; 
"Forest Flora of Chakrata, Dehra Dun etc. 
and its revision by Gupta" ; Duthie's original 
"Flora of the Upper Gangetic Plain", and its 
Supplement by Raizuda. Gamble's monumen- 
tal work on "Indian Timbers" is backed by the 
corresponding voucher specimens. K. C, Sahni 
as an officer as deputation has published 
"Trees of the Northern Sudan" a publication 
indirectly collcer~led with this Herbarium. 

A fully air-conditioned modern herba- 
riuin building on the pattern of Kew and 
Edi~~burgh herbaria is fast comiug up within 
the Forest Research Institute Campus and the 
herbarium will be shitted to the new site 
sometime ill 1979. 


